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Message from management
Highlights
For 2019, Desjardins Capital posted a net income of $1,174 thousand, up from $1,014 
thousand the previous year.

This was driven by a higher net interest income of $2,296 thousand, an increase of 
$44 thousand over 2018. Professional fees included in non-interest expense dropped 
by $171 thousand to $697 thousand in 2019.

No new senior notes were issued in the fiscal year that ended on December 31, 2019.

Rating agencies
Desjardins Capital enjoys excellent credit ratings that are among the best of the major 
Canadian and international banking institutions. In 2019, DBRS, Fitch, Moody’s and 
Standard & Poor’s all confirmed the credit ratings for Desjardins Capital’s securities.
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Management’s Discussion 
and Analysis 
Desjardins Capital Inc. 
Desjardins Capital Inc. (Desjardins Capital) is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Fédération des caisses Desjardins du Québec (the Federation), and is 
responsible for issuing securities on capital markets and investing the proceeds thereof in subordinated notes issued by the Desjardins caisses of Québec 
(Desjardins caisses).  

The Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) dated February 26, 2020, presents the analysis of the results of and main changes to the balance 
sheet of Desjardins Capital for the year ended December 31, 2019, in comparison to previous fiscal years. Desjardins Capital reports financial information 
in compliance with Regulation 52-109 respecting Certification of Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim Filings issued by the Canadian Securities 
Administrators (CSA). Information on Desjardins Capital’s controls and procedures is presented in the “Additional information” section of this MD&A. 

This MD&A should be read in conjunction with the Financial Statements, including the Notes thereto, as at December 31, 2019. 

Additional information about Desjardins Capital is available on the SEDAR website at www.sedar.com. More information is available on Desjardins 
Group’s website at www.desjardins.com/ca/about-us/investor-relations. None of the information presented on these sites is incorporated by reference into 
this MD&A. 

The Financial Statements have been prepared by Desjardins Capital’s management in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), and the accounting requirements of the Autorité des marchés financiers (AMF) of 
Québec, which do not differ from IFRS. IFRS represent Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). For more information about the 
accounting policies applied, see Note 2 "Basis of presentation and significant accounting policies" to the Financial Statements. 

This MD&A was prepared in accordance with the regulations in force on continuous disclosure obligations issued by the CSA. Unless otherwise indicated, 
all amounts are presented in Canadian dollars ($) and are primarily from Desjardins Capital’s Financial Statements.
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CAUTION CONCERNING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Desjardins Capital’s public communications often include oral or written forward-looking statements, within the meaning of applicable securities legislation. 
Such forward-looking statements are contained in this MD&A and may be incorporated in other filings with Canadian regulators or in any other 
communications. Forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, comments about Desjardins Capital’s objectives regarding financial 
performance, priorities, operations, the review of economic conditions and markets, as well as the outlook for the Québec, Canadian, U.S. and global 
economies. Such statements are typically identified by words or phrases such as “believe”, “expect”, “anticipate”, “intend”, “estimate”, “plan” and “may”, 
words and expressions of similar import, and future and conditional verbs. 

By their very nature, such statements involve assumptions, uncertainties and inherent risks, both general and specific. It is therefore possible that, due to 
many factors, the assumptions made may be incorrect, or that the predictions, forecasts or other forward-looking statements as well as Desjardins 
Capital’s objectives and priorities may not materialize or may prove to be inaccurate and that actual results differ materially.  

A number of factors, many of which are beyond Desjardins Capital’s control and the effects of which can be difficult to predict, could influence, individually 
or collectively, the accuracy of the forward-looking statements in this MD&A. These factors include those discussed in Section 4.0 “Risk management” of 
this MD&A, such as credit, liquidity, market, operational, as well as legal and regulatory environment risk.  

Additional factors that may affect the accuracy of the forward-looking statements in this MD&A also include factors related to the critical accounting 
estimates and accounting standards applied by Desjardins Capital, and to credit ratings.  

It is important to note that the above list of factors that could influence future results is not exhaustive. Other factors could have an adverse effect on 
Desjardins Capital’s results. Additional information about these and other factors is found in Section 4.0, “Risk management” of this MD&A.  

Although Desjardins Capital believes that the expectations expressed in these forward-looking statements are reasonable and founded on valid bases, it 
cannot guarantee that these expectations will materialize or prove to be correct. Desjardins Capital cautions readers against placing undue reliance on 
forward-looking statements when making decisions, given that actual results, conditions, actions or future events could differ significantly from the targets, 
expectations, estimates or intentions advanced in them, explicitly or implicitly. Readers who rely on these statements must carefully consider these risk 
factors and other uncertainties and potential events, including the uncertainty inherent in forward-looking statements. 

The significant economic assumptions underlying the forward-looking statements in this MD&A are described in Section 1.0 “Economic environment and 
outlook” of this MD&A. These assumptions may also be updated in the quarterly MD&As, in the “Economic environment and outlook” section. To develop 
our economic growth forecasts, in general and for the financial services sector, we mainly use historical economic data provided by recognized and 
reliable organizations, empirical and theoretical relationships between economic and financial variables, expert judgment and identified upside and 
downside risks for the domestic and global economies. 

Any forward-looking statements contained in this MD&A represent the views of management only as at the date hereof, and are presented for the purpose 
of assisting readers in understanding and interpreting Desjardins Capital’s balance sheet as at the dates indicated or its results for the periods then ended, 
as well as its strategic priorities and objectives as considered as at the date hereof. These statements may not be appropriate for other purposes. 
Desjardins Capital does not undertake to update any oral or written forward-looking statements that could be made from time to time by or on behalf of 
Desjardins Capital, except as required under applicable securities legislation. 

REGULATORY ENVIRONMENT

Desjardins Group, including Desjardins Capital, closely monitors regulations as well as new developments relating to financial products and services in 
order to mitigate any negative impact on its operations, and aims to comply with best practices in this regard. 

The Business Corporations Act (Québec) and the Act respecting financial services cooperatives

Desjardins Capital’s activities are governed by the Business Corporations Act (Québec) and An Act respecting financial service cooperatives. The AMF is 
the main government agency overseeing and monitoring deposit-taking institutions (other than banks) that conduct business in Québec and are governed 
by a Québec law. Desjardins Capital manages financial reporting in compliance with the AMF's Regulation 52-109 respecting Certification of Disclosure in 
Issuers’ Annual and Interim Filings. 

The Act mainly to improve the regulation of the financial sector, the protection of deposits of money and the operation of financial institutions 

On June 13, 2018, the Québec National Assembly passed Bill 141, An Act mainly to improve the regulation of the financial sector, the protection of 
deposits of money and the operation of financial institutions (the Act), which applies to all institutions and intermediaries operating in Québec’s financial 
sector. The main goal of the Act is to update and modernize the legislative framework for Québec’s financial sector so that the financial institutions that it 
governs will have all the levers they need to operate in a very competitive environment and governance that is consistent with best practices. The Act 
affects a series of laws, such as the Insurers Act, (which replaced the Act respecting insurance), the Act respecting financial services cooperatives, the  
Act respecting the distribution of financial products and services and the Deposit Insurance Act (now the Deposit Institutions and Deposit Protection Act). 
The Act respecting financial service cooperatives was amended, among other things, to prescribe the rules for organizing a network of financial services 
cooperatives and a financial group, and the rules for issuing capital shares and investment shares. 
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The Act also added a chapter concerning the Groupe coopératif Desjardins (the Cooperative Group), which comprises the Desjardins caisses in Québec, 
the Federation and the Fonds de sécurité Desjardins. The chapter aims to strengthen financial solidarity mechanisms within the Cooperative Group, 
among other things. In this way, the Act affirms the Federation’s mission to look after Desjardins Group’s risk management and see to the financial health 
of the Cooperative Group and its sustainability. The Federation and the Fonds de sécurité Desjardins have additional special powers of supervision and 
intervention regarding the protection of creditors, including depositors. As well, the Federation may, in accordance with its mission and when it considers 
that the financial position of the Cooperative Group so warrants, give written instructions to any caisse or order it to adopt and apply a recovery plan. For 
its part, the Fonds de sécurité Desjardins is required to ensure the distribution of capital and other assets among the components of the Cooperative 
Group so that each one can perform its obligations to its depositors and other creditors in full, correctly and without delay. It is required to intervene with a 
component of the Cooperative Group each time it appears necessary to do so in order to protect the component’s creditors. The Fonds de sécurité 
Desjardins may, in such circumstances, order the assignment of any part of the business of a caisse, order the amalgamation or dissolution of caisses or 
establish a legal entity to facilitate the liquidation of a caisse’s bad assets. Furthermore, the Fonds de sécurité Desjardins mutualizes the cost of its 
interventions between the components belonging to the Cooperative Group. In addition, if it considers that its financial resources are inadequate to carry 
out its mission, it may set a special assessment and require any component of the Cooperative Group to pay it. The Act also provides that all the Québec 
caisses, the Federation and the Fonds de sécurité Desjardins may be amalgamated into a single legal entity to be wound up, as these entities cannot be 
wound up in any other manner. 

The Deposit Institutions and Deposit Protection Act (which replaced the Deposit Insurance Act) provides for new rules for the supervision and control of 
deposit-taking activities and the activities of authorized deposit-taking institutions, as well as recovery and resolution mechanisms in the event of failure of 
deposit-taking institutions. Furthermore, the Act introduces a new Insurers Act that provides for revised supervision for Québec insurers. A significant 
change in this new legislation is to allow insurers to sell insurance over the Internet. A few changes aimed at modernizing the Act respecting the 
distribution of financial products and services were also introduced, such as rules for insurance brokers in offering products and new rules applicable to 
distributing products without a representative. In addition, in property and casualty insurance, the Act makes it mandatory for divided co-owners to have 
co-ownership insurance. 

Generally speaking, the provisions of the Act applicable to financial services cooperatives came into force on July 13, 2018, one month after assent, but 
there are several exceptions. Among these, the chapter concerning the Cooperative Group came into force when the first internal by-law of the 
Cooperative Group was adopted on December 7, 2018. The new provisions of the Insurers Act, for their part, came into force on June 13, 2019, along with 
a large portion of the amendments to the Act respecting the distribution of financial products and services and the Deposit Institutions and Deposit 
Protection Act. 
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1.0 Economic environment and outlook

Changes in the Canadian dollar vs. the U.S. dollar (at quarter end) 
(in U.S. dollars / Canadian dollars)

Changes in the prime rate (annual average) 
(as a percentage) 

*F

Changes in the unemployment rate (annual average) 
(as a percentage) 

*F

Global economy 

The global economy slowed considerably in 2019. This slo
trade stagnated or declined for much of the year. The dete
fell into recession. The eurozone’s real GDP growth in 201
1.5% to 0.6%. In the United Kingdom, the Brexit issue mo
economy. Real GDP growth in the U.K. increased 1.4% in
problems, such as U.S. tariffs. China's real GDP growth wen

Despite the slowdown in the global economy and many unc
rallied, erasing the downturn of the last few months of 2
environment led several central banks, including the U.S. F
programs. Although the Canadian economy was resilient,
nevertheless kept its monetary policy unchanged through
renewed investor confidence at the end of the year. 

The world economy is expected to continue growing rather
2.9% in 2020. The trade tensions will not be fully resolved,
the manufacturing sector. There are likely to be negative, b
China and elsewhere. So the financial markets are likely to
U.S. Bond rates should remain low and monetary policies a
relatively stable. 

2

4

orecast *Forecast

Annual growth in GDP 
(as a percentage) 

orecast *Forecast

wdown stemmed in part from the uncertainties surrounding trade tensions. As a result, world 
rioration was particularly marked in the eurozone, where the main economy, Germany, almost 
9 is estimated at 1.2%, following a 1.9% gain in 2018, and in Germany, real GDP slipped from 
nopolized the news throughout 2019, creating uncertainty that weighed heavily on the British 
 2019. In China, the economy continued to slow due to both structural factors and economic 
t from 6.7% in 2018 to 6.1% in 2019. 

ertainties, 2019 was a very good year for investors: bond yields fell sharply and stock markets 
018, and even setting new records. It should be noted that the less favourable economic 
ederal Reserve (the Fed) and the European Central Bank (ECB), to resume monetary easing 
 benefiting from the sharp decline in bond rates, among other things, the Bank of Canada 
out 2019. That helped the Canadian dollar appreciate against the U.S. dollar, and spurred 

 slowly in 2020. Global GDP growth is expected to slip from 3.6% in 2018 to 2.9% in 2019 and 
 and uncertainty over trade issues will continue to hinder business investment and undermine 
ut probably temporary, economic effects associated with the emergence of the coronavirus in 
 remain highly volatile as investors continue to be concerned over the political situation in the 
re expected to remain unchanged throughout 2020. The Canadian dollar is expected to remain 

020*
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United States 

The United States began 2019 on the right foot, posting a 3.1% annualized gain in real GDP. The situation then calmed, with a marked slowdown in 
exports and business investment. This was a direct result of the Sino-American trade war, which escalated for much of the year. Moreover, the positive 
effects of the 2018 tax cuts were short-lived. Consumption was less affected and, despite some ups and downs, household confidence remained fairly 
good, aided by the strong labour market. The U.S. unemployment rate fell to 3.5%, its lowest level since 1969. Interest rate cuts helped the housing 
market recover after several difficult quarters. Real GDP growth in 2019 is estimated at 2.3%, following a gain of 2.9% in 2018. 

The U.S. economy is expected to grow rather slowly in 2020 as it continues to be affected by the tariffs introduced in 2018, despite the trade agreement 
reached between China and the United States. Real GDP is expected to grow by 1.8% in 2020. In 2020, the media’s attention may be highly focused on 
the federal election campaign.  

Canada

The Canadian economy experienced some major upheavals in 2019. The year got off to a bad start when the Alberta government imposed a reduction in 
oil production in response to transportation constraints, but the subsequent return to normal in the energy sector boosted real GDP growth in the spring. 
The Canadian economy then began to grow at a more moderate pace starting in the second half of 2019 as various factors influenced real GDP. 
Consumer spending and residential investment continued to expand on the strength of a robust labour market, high household confidence and low interest 
rates. On the other hand, global trade tensions curbed exports and eroded business confidence. However, there were encouraging developments in late 
2019 due to the trade agreement between China and the United States as well as the imminent ratification of the Canada-U.S.-Mexico Agreement 
(CUMA). Real GDP is expected to have grown approximately 1.7% in 2019. This forecast suggests a continued decline, as real GDP grew 3.2% in 2017 
and 2.0% in 2018.  

Economic growth in 2020 is expected to remain moderate, at close to 1.6%. Even though trade tensions will ease, they will continue to have adverse 
effects. The housing market is nevertheless expected to continue to trend upward, which could rekindle concerns about overheated markets in some 
regions. By holding steady on its key interest rates, the Bank of Canada should continue to support household consumer spending, especially since the 
unemployment rate will likely remain close to its all-time low. 

Québec 

In 2019, Québec’s international exports suffered from the slowdown in the global economy as well as trade disputes. The U.S. tariffs on Canadian steel 
and aluminum imposed from May 2018 to May 2019 dealt a severe blow to the industry. The ban on Canadian meat exports to China from late June 2019 
to early November also had an adverse effect on Québec producers. Exporters faced many problems over the past year, but the province’s economy 
continued to expand rapidly. In 2019, Québec posted the strongest rate of real GDP growth of all the provinces. For the third year in a row, in 2019 the 
Québec economy grew at a rate of 2.5% to 3.0%, a particularly strong result given the turbulence in the global economy. Households continued to 
underpin the economy. They are benefiting from an improved labour market, which can be seen in accelerating wage growth. Strong job creation drove 
the unemployment rate down to 5.1% in 2019, below the national rate and that of almost all the other provinces. The Québec housing market continues to 
grow, and has been spared the correction that affected some Canadian markets two years ago. Sales of existing properties peaked in 2019, with the 
average price rising by about 5%. So the year ended on a high note for the residential sector. In sum, the Québec economy continues to post excellent 
results in several respects. However, a slower pace of growth is expected in 2020, given the slowdown underway in the world's major economies and the 
negative impacts this will have on foreign trade. 
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2.0 Review of financial results 

2.1 Analysis of 2019 results 

Table 1 – Financial results
For the years ended December 31 

(in thousands of dollars) 2019 2018 2017

Interest income

Subordinated notes issued by Desjardins caisses of Québec $ 74,253 $ 74,253 $ 74,253

Cash 347 261 136

74,600 74,514 74,389

Interest expense

Senior notes 72,304 72,262 72,222

72,304 72,262 72,222

Net interest income 2,296 2,252 2,167

Non-interest expense

Professional fees 697 868 843

Income before income taxes 1,599 1,384 1,324

Income tax expense 425 370 347

Net income for the year $ 1,174 $ 1,014 $ 977

For fiscal 2019, Desjardins Capital recorded $1,174 thousand in net income compared to $1,014 thousand for 2018. Net interest income was up 
$44 thousand from 2018 to $2,296 thousand. For 2019, professional fees included in non-interest expense were down $171 thousand, to $697 thousand. 
It should be recalled that net interest income arises from the spread between the interest rate on the subordinated notes and that on the senior notes used 
to finance Desjardins Capital’s operating expenses. 

COMPARISON OF 2018 AND 2017

Net income for fiscal 2018 was $1,014 thousand, compared to $977 thousand for fiscal 2017. This change was primarily due to higher net interest income, 
which was partly offset by an increase in professional fees included in non-interest expense. 

2.2 Analysis of fourth quarter results 

Table 2 – Quarterly results for the previous eight quarters

(unaudited, in thousands of dollars) 2019 2018

Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1

Interest income $ 18,657 $ 18,650 $ 18,645 $ 18,648 $ 18,641 $ 18,631 $ 18,624 $ 18,618

Interest expense 18,080 18,077 18,075 18,072 18,069 18,067 18,065 18,061

Net interest income 577 573 570 576 572 564 559 557

Non-interest expense 173 154 187 183 111 272 264 221

Income before income taxes 404 419 383 393 461 292 295 336

Income tax expense 107 112 102 104 124 78 79 89

Net income $ 297 $ 307 $ 281 $ 289 $ 337 $ 214 $ 216 $ 247

For the fourth quarter ended December 31, 2019, Desjardins Capital recorded net income of $297 thousand compared to $337 thousand for the same 
quarter of 2018. Net interest income was $577 thousand for the fourth quarter, up $5 thousand from the same period of 2018. Non-interest expense rose 
$62 thousand to $173 thousand for the fourth quarter ended December 31, 2019. 
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3.0 Balance sheet review

3.1 Total assets

As at December 31, 2019, Desjardins Capital had total assets of $1.4 billion, unchanged from December 31, 2018. These assets consisted primarily of 
subordinated notes issued by the caisses of Québec.

As at December 31, 2019, the subordinated notes issued by the caisses of Québec were comprised of:  

Series G Series J

Carrying amount $900.0 million $500.0 million 

Acquisition date May 5, 2010 December 15, 2011

Maturity date May 5, 2020 December 15, 2026

Fixed annual interest rate 5.387% 
May 5, 2010 to May 4, 2020

5.154% 
December 15, 2011 to December 14, 2021

Fixed interest payments Biannual until May 5, 2020 Biannual until December 15, 2021

Variable annual 
interest rate 

N/A 90-day bankers’ acceptance 
rate plus 2.8665%  
December 15, 2021 to December 14, 2026

Variable interest payments N/A Quarterly  
March 15, 2022 to December 15, 2026

Total or partial early redemption at the option 
of Desjardins Capital to finance the early 
redemption of the corresponding senior notes 

Early redemption subject to prior approval from 
the AMF 

No early redemption before December 15, 2021 

On or after December 15, 2021, early 
redemption subject to prior approval from the 
AMF

Interest receivable $7.5 million $1.2 million
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3.2 Total liabilities 

As at December 31, 2019, Desjardins Capital’s total liabilities stood at $1.4 billion, unchanged from December 31, 2018. These liabilities consisted mainly 
of senior notes.  

As at December 31, 2019, Desjardins Capital’s senior notes were comprised of:  

Series G Series J

Nominal value $900.0 million $500.0 million 

Issuing date May 5, 2010 December 15, 2011

Maturity date May 5, 2020 December 15, 2026

Fixed annual interest rate 5.187% 
May 5, 2010 to May 4, 2020

4.954% 
December 15, 2011 to December 14, 2021

Fixed interest payments Biannual until  May 5, 2020 Biannual until December 15, 2021

Variable annual interest rate N/A 90-day bankers’ acceptance  
rate plus 2.67%  
December 15, 2021 to December 14, 2026

Variable interest payments N/A Quarterly  
March 15, 2022 to December 15, 2026

Early redemption Early redemption in whole or in part subject to 
prior approval from the AMF 

No early redemption before December 15, 2021 

On or after December 15, 2021, early 
redemption in whole or in part subject to prior 
approval from the AMF

Interest payable $7.3 million $1.1 million

These senior notes are secured by a first hypothec on the corresponding subordinated notes of each of the above-mentioned series. 

4.0 Risk management
4.1 Risk management 

The shaded areas and tables marked with an asterisk (*) in this section contain information about credit, market and liquidity risks in accordance with 
IFRS 7, “Financial Instruments: Disclosures”. They also contain an analysis of how Desjardins Capital assesses its risks as well as a description of its risk 
management objectives, policies and methods. IFRS 7 provides that risk disclosures may be included in the MD&A. Consequently, the shaded areas and 
tables marked with an asterisk (*) are an integral part of the Financial Statements, as explained in Note 9, “Financial instrument risk management”, to the 
Financial Statements. 

Desjardins Capital was created exclusively for the purpose of offering securities on the financial markets and investing the proceeds thereof in securities 
issued by the caisses of Québec to meet their liquidity and capital needs. Desjardins Capital therefore acts as an intermediary between external investors 
and the caisses in order to provide the caisses of Québec with easier access to institutional capital. 

The Board of Directors of Desjardins Capital is responsible for guiding, planning, coordinating and monitoring all of its operations. The Board is supported 
in some of its responsibilities, specifically in the area of risk management, by its Management Committee and its Audit Committee. 

Desjardins Capital is exposed to different types of risk in its normal course of operations, including credit risk, market risk, liquidity risk, operational risk and 
legal and regulatory risk. 
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Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of losses resulting from a counterparty’s failure to honour its contractual obligations, whether or not these obligations appear on the 
Balance Sheet. 

Desjardins Capital is exposed to credit risk primarily through the subordinated notes issued to it by the caisses of Québec. These notes represented 
98.0% of assets on the Balance Sheets as at December 31, 2019, comparable to the ratio as at December 31, 2018.  

The securities issued by the caisses of Québec to Desjardins Capital are, in fact, subordinated, as to right of payment, to all the other obligations of the 
caisses of Québec. However, this risk is considered minimal, given that Desjardins Group, including Fonds de sécurité Desjardins, have implemented 
certain intervention mechanisms designed to help the caisses of Québec in financial difficulty. Moreover, the Act respecting financial services cooperatives
grants the Federation the powers to intervene with the caisses in accordance with its mission to ensure the financial health of Groupe coopératif 
Desjardins and its sustainability. Additional information on this law are presented in the “Changes in the regulatory environment” section. 

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk refers to Desjardins Capital’s capacity to raise the necessary funds (by increasing liabilities or converting assets) to meet a financial 
obligation, whether or not it appears on the Balance Sheets.  

Desjardins Capital carefully manages liquidity risk by matching maturities between senior notes and subordinated notes. Desjardins Capital can also 
require the caisses of Québec to pay, in whole or in part, the subordinated notes in order to redeem senior notes in advance. 

Furthermore, Desjardins Capital ensures that the contractual maturities of senior notes and subordinated notes are staggered in order to avoid an 
excessive concentration of these maturities on specific dates. Such concentration could lead to a liquidity risk when there is turbulence in financial 
markets.

FUNDING SOURCES

The borrowing programs of Desjardins Capital, which are established by prospectus, matured in previous years and were not renewed. Depending on 
changes in the regulatory environment, Desjardins Capital may at some time in the future launch issues of securities on capital markets in Canada, the 
U.S. and Europe.  

BASEL III

Desjardins Capital’s senior notes fully qualified, for Desjardins Group, as Tier 2 regulatory capital until December 31, 2012. On January 1, 2013, the AMF 
adopted the provisions stipulated by the Basel Committee with respect to requirements to ensure that losses are absorbed at the point of non-viability. 
Consequently, since January 1, 2013, these notes no longer fully qualify as Tier 2 regulatory capital since they do not satisfy the requirements for  
non-viability contingent capital. 

As a result, Desjardins Capital’s senior notes are being gradually eliminated from Desjardins Group’s capital at a rate of 10% per year over a nine-year 
period that began on January 1, 2013 under the transitional measures set out in the AMF guideline. 

CREDIT RATINGS OF SECURITIES ISSUED AND OUTSTANDING

The credit ratings of Desjardins Capital affect its ability to access sources of funding on capital markets, as well as the conditions of such funding.  

Rating agencies assign credit ratings and related ratings outlooks based on their own proprietary methodology, which includes a number of analytical 
criteria, including factors that are not under Desjardins Group’s control. The rating agencies evaluate Desjardins Group primarly on a combined basis and 
recognize its capitalization, its consistent financial performance, its significant market shares in Québec and the quality of its assets. Consequently, the 
credit ratings of Desjardins Capital, a venture reporting issuer, are backed by Desjardins Group’s financial strength. It should be noted that rating agencies 
also assign credit ratings to the Federation.   

During 2019, DBRS, Fitch, Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s (S&P) all confirmed the credit ratings and related outlooks of the securities issued by 
Desjardins Capital. The credit ratings assigned by Fitch, Moody’s and S&P to Desjardins Capital’s securities were unchanged. 

Following the AMF’s publication, on March 20, 2019, of its regulations to implement the internal recapitalization (bail-in) regime, which applies to some of 
Desjardins Group’s creditors and security holders, the rating agencies assigned credit ratings to the senior debt instruments subject to the bail-in regime. 
DBRS, Fitch, Moody’s and S&P assigned credit ratings of AA (low), AA-, A2 and A-, respectively. Moreover, following the implementation of Desjardins 
Group’s bail-in regime, DBRS downgraded the credit rating for Desjardins Capital Inc. from AA (low) to A (high), considering that Desjardins Capital Inc.’s 
assets, consisting mainly of subordinated securities of the caisses, are not guaranteed by any caisse or by any other Desjardins Group entity. 
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DBRS’s and S&P’s ratings outlooks for Desjardins Capital are “stable”, while the outlook from Moody’s is “negative”. 

Desjardins Capital has first class credit ratings that are among the best of the major Canadian and international banking institutions. 

Table 3 – Credit ratings of securities issued and in circulation 

DBRS FITCH MOODY’S 
STANDARD& 
   POOR’S 

Medium- and long-term, senior A (high) A+ A2 A 

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

Contractual obligations are commitments with respect to minimum future payments, and they impact the liquidity needs of Desjardins Capital. Such 
contractual obligations are recognized in the Balance Sheets or are off-balance sheet. For more information on contractual maturities, see the table 
"Residual contractual maturities of on-balance sheet items and off-balance sheet commitments" in Note 9, "Financial instrument risk management" to the 
financial statements. 

Market risk

Market risk refers to the risk of changes in the fair value of financial instruments resulting from fluctuations in the parameters affecting this value, in 
particular, interest rates, exchange rates, credit spreads and their volatility. 

Desjardins Capital is exposed to market risk primarily through to its positions resulting from its intermediation operations between the caisses of Québec 
and institutional investors. More specifically, Desjardins Capital is exposed to interest rate risk, which corresponds to the potential impact of interest rate 
fluctuations on net interest income and on the economic value of equity. 

Desjardins Capital applies sound and conservative management practices in order to achieve intermediation between lenders and the caisses of Québec 
with a view to achieving the matching required to mitigate interest rate risk. To avoid any sensitivity to changing interest rates, Desjardins Capital seeks to 
match the terms of the related senior notes with the terms of the subordinated notes. In addition, when debt securities are issued, Desjardins Capital sets 
a sufficient profit margin to finance its operating costs by fixing an interest rate on the subordinated notes. Moreover, Desjardins Capital has no trading 
portfolio. 

Since the cash flows resulting from Desjardins Capital’s operations are matched, the impact of interest rate changes on the economic value of capital is 
negligible. 

Operational risk 

Operational risk is the risk of inadequacy or failure attributable to processes, people, internal systems or external events and resulting in losses, failure to 
achieve objectives or a negative impact on reputation.  

Operational risk is inherent to all the activities of Desjardins Group, including Desjardins Capital, which includes the management and control practices 
used in other risk areas (credit, market, liquidity, etc.) as well as activities carried out by a third party. This risk may lead to losses mainly resulting from 
theft, fraud, damage to tangible assets, non-compliance with legislation or regulations, systems failures, unauthorized access to computer systems, cyber 
threats, or problems or errors in process management. To maintain this risk at an acceptable level, an operational risk management framework has been 
developed and deployed throughout the organization. The framework includes the usual practices for sound management of operations and is based on 
the three lines of defence model, clearly defining the roles and responsibilities in risk and operations management.

OPERATIONAL RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK

The purpose of the operational risk management framework is to identify, measure, mitigate and monitor operational risk as well as make interventions 
and disclosures for operational risk in accordance with operational risk appetite and the frameworks adopted by the Board of Directors. It is supported by 
guidelines setting out operational risk management foundations. At the same time, the operational risk management framework connects with the other 
areas of risk. 

The operational risk management framework is reviewed annually to ensure its adequacy and its relevance based on Desjardins Group’s risk profile and 
developments in industry practices.  
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Legal and regulatory risk 

Legal and regulatory risk refers to the risk associated with noncompliance by Desjardins Group, including Desjardins Capital, with the obligations arising 
from the interpretation or application of legislative and regulatory provisions or contractual commitments, which could affect its operations, reputation, 
strategies and financial objectives. 

Legal and regulatory risk entails, inter alia, effectively preventing and handling possible disputes and claims that may lead in particular to judgments or 
decisions by a court of law or regulatory body that could result in orders to pay damages, financial penalties or sanctions. Moreover, the legal and 
regulatory environment is evolving quickly and could increase Desjardins Capital’s exposure to new types of litigation. In addition, some lawsuits against 
Desjardins Capital may be very complex and be based on legal theories that are new or have never been verified. The outcome of such lawsuits may be 
difficult to predict or estimate until the proceedings have reached an advanced stage, which may take several years. Class action lawsuits or multi-party 
litigation may feature an additional risk of judgments with substantial monetary, non-monetary or punitive damages. Plaintiffs who bring a class action or 
other lawsuit sometimes claim very large amounts and it is impossible to determine Desjardins Capital’s liability, if any, for some time. Legal liability or an 
important regulatory measure could have an adverse effect on the current activities of Desjardins Capital’s, its results of operations and its financial 
position, in addition to damaging its reputation. Even if Desjardins Capital won its court case or was no longer the subject of measures imposed by 
regulatory bodies, these situations could harm its reputation and have an adverse impact on its financial position, due in particular to the costs associated 
with such proceedings, and its brand image.  

The financial services industry is one of the most strictly regulated and monitored sectors. In recent years, the regulations governing the industry have 
expanded significantly in response to numerous socio-economic phenomena such as the development of new, increasingly complex financial products, 
the continuing volatility in the securities industry, financial fraud, the fight against money laundering and terrorist financing, and the fight against tax 
evasion, to mention but a few. In addition to federal (Canada and the U.S.) and provincial government requirements, the regulatory environment also 
includes organizations such as the AMF, the Canadian Securities Administrators, and the Financial Transactions and Reports Analysis Centre of Canada. 
Complying with legislative and regulatory provisions, such as those for the protection of personal information and in the Foreign Account Tax Compliance 
Act, the Standard for Automatic Exchange of Financial Account Information in Tax Matters, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection 
Act and the Basel accords, requires considerable technical, human and financial resources and also affects the way Desjardins Capital manages its 
current operations and implements its business strategies.  

As an independent supervisory function, the Office of the Chief Compliance Officer of Desjardins Group fosters a proactive approach to compliance by 
fully integrating compliance into the organization’s current operations. It is responsible for developing, updating and maintaining the compliance 
management framework, which is based on the identification and monitoring of regulatory obligations and the functional units subject to them. Regulatory 
developments and their impact on operations are therefore monitored and evaluated on an ongoing basis by the compliance function in cooperation with 
the Office of the Chief Legal Officer, and strategies are implemented as required to mitigate them. The compliance function provides support to managers 
in charge of business segments and support functions so that they can effectively manage their risks, by developing an appropriate framework and 
documentation, acting in an advisory capacity, setting up training programs and conducting periodic inspections of operations. The Desjardins Group 
Monitoring Office provides an independent assessment of the effectiveness of the compliance management framework. Lastly, Desjardins Capital has set 
up a formal reporting process related to compliance for its senior management and various decision-making bodies. In addition, to maintain its reputation 
for integrity as well as the confidence of its members and clients, the market and the general public, Desjardins Group has developed a code of 
professional conduct applicable to all its officers and employees as well as all its components, including Desjardins Capital. This overall management of 
compliance provides reasonable assurance that Desjardins Capital’s operations are carried out in compliance with applicable regulations. Despite all these 
efforts, Desjardins Capital may not be able to predict the exact impact of regulatory developments and appropriately implement strategies to respond. It 
could then sustain an adverse impact on its financial performance, its operations and its reputation. For further information, refer to the “Regulatory 
environment” section of this MD&A.  

4.2 Other risk factors that could impact future results

As indicated in the caution concerning forward-looking statements, general or specific risks and uncertainties may cause Desjardins Capital’s actual 
results to differ from those in these statements. Some of these risk factors are presented below. 

Risk factor Description 

Critical accounting 
estimates and 
accounting standards 

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with IFRS. The accounting policies used by Desjardins Capital 
determine how it reports its financial position and results of operations, and may require management to make estimates 
or rely on assumptions about matters that are inherently uncertain. Any change to these estimates and assumptions, as 
well as in accounting standards and policies, may have a significant impact on the financial position and operating 
results of Desjardins Capital. The significant accounting policies and future accounting changes are described in Note 2, 
“Basis of presentation and significant accounting policies”, to the Financial Statements. 

Credit ratings The credit ratings assigned to Desjardins Capital by the rating agencies are instrumental to its access to sources of 
wholesale financing and the cost of such financing. These ratings may be revised or withdrawn at any time by the rating 
agencies. Furthermore, a serious downgrade to the ratings could increase Desjardins Capital’s cost of funding, reduce 
its access to the capital markets and increase the additional obligations required by its counterparties. 

Other factors Desjardins Capital cautions the reader that factors other than the foregoing could affect future results. Investors and 
other stakeholders relying on forward-looking statements to make decisions with respect to Desjardins Capital should 
carefully consider these factors as well as other uncertainties, potential events, and industry factors or other items 
specific to Desjardins Capital that could adversely impact its future results. 
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5.0 Additional information 
5.1 Controls and procedures

DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

In accordance with the CSA guidance in National Instrument 52-109, the Chair of the Board of Directors, and CEO as well as the Vice-President and Chief 
Financial Officer of Desjardins Capital (Chief Financial Officer) caused to be designed disclosure controls and procedures (DC&P). These controls are 
designed to provide reasonable assurance that the information disclosed in annual and interim filings and in other reports filed or submitted under 
securities legislation is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified by that legislation. These controls and procedures 
are also designed to ensure that such information is accumulated and communicated to Desjardins Capital’s management, including its signing officers, as 
appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding disclosure. 

As at December 31, 2019, Desjardins Capital’s management, in collaboration with the Chair of the Board of Directors and CEO and the Chief Financial 
Officer, assessed the design and effectiveness of its DC&P. Based on the results of this assessment, the Chair of the Board of Directors and CEO as well 
as the Chief Financial Officer concluded that the DC&P were adequately designed and effective. 

INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

The management of Desjardins Capital caused an adequate process of internal control over financial reporting to be designed and has maintained it. This 
process is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external 
purposes in accordance with IFRS. The internal control over financial reporting (ICFR) includes policies and procedures that:
 Pertain to the maintenance of reasonably detailed records that accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of assets; 
 Are designed to provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of financial statements in 

accordance with IFRS, and that cash receipts and payments are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors; 
and 

 Are designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of any unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of assets 
that could have a significant impact on the annual financial statements or interim financial reports. 

Because of its inherent limitations, ICFR may not prevent or detect all misstatements in a timely manner. Management’s assessment of the controls 
provides only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that all the problems related to control which could give rise to material misstatements have been 
detected. 

Desjardins Capital’s management, in collaboration with the Chair of the Board of Directors and CEO and the Chief Financial Officer, assessed the design 
and effectiveness of ICFR. This assessment was performed in accordance with the 2013 Internal Control – Integrated Framework published by the 
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) for financial controls and in accordance with the Control Objectives for 
Information and Related Technologies (COBIT) framework for IT general controls.  

Based on the results of the assessment, the Chairman of the Board of Directors and CEO as well as the Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as at 
December 31, 2019, ICFR were appropriately designed and effective. 

CHANGE IN INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

During the year ended December 31, 2019, Desjardins Capital did not make any modification to its internal control policies, procedures and other 
processes that had materially affected, or may materially affect, ICFR. 

5.2 Related party disclosures

In the normal course of operations, Desjardins Capital carries out transactions with Desjardins Group entities. All these transactions were entered into 
under normal market terms and conditions. Desjardins Capital does not carry out financial transactions with its management personnel. 

Note 11, “Related party disclosures”, to the Financial Statements provides more information on this subject. 

5.3 Critical accounting policies and estimates

A description of the accounting policies used by Desjardins Capital is essential to understanding the Financial Statements as at December 31, 2019. The 
significant accounting policies are described in Note 2, “Basis of presentation and significant accounting policies”, to the Financial Statements. Some of 
these policies are of particular importance in presenting the financial position and operating results of Desjardins Capital because they require 
management to make judgments as well as estimates and assumptions that may affect the reported amounts of some assets, liabilities, income and 
expenses, as well as related information. The significant accounting policies that required management to make difficult, subjective or complex judgments, 
often involving uncertainties, are discussed below. 
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DETERMINATION OF THE FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The fair value of a financial instrument is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 
market participants at the measurement date. 

The fair value measurement of financial instruments is determined using three levels of the fair value hierarchy, reflecting the importance of the inputs 
used for the measurements. Level 1 denotes measurement based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities, while 
level 2 designates valuation techniques based primarily on observable market data. Level 3 concerns valuation techniques not based primarily on 
observable market data. 

There is little subjectivity in the determination of the fair value of financial instruments obtained from quoted prices on active markets. This fair value is 
based on the quoted price within the bid-ask spread that is most representative of fair value in the circumstances. 

If there are no quoted prices on active markets, fair value is determined using models that maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of 
unobservable inputs. In such cases, fair value estimates are established using valuation techniques such as cash flow discounting, comparisons with 
similar financial instruments, option pricing models and other techniques commonly used by market participants, if these techniques have been 
demonstrated to provide reliable estimates. Valuation techniques rely on assumptions concerning the amount and timing of estimated future cash flows 
and discount rates that are mainly based on observable data, such as interest rate yield curves, exchange rates, credit curves and volatility factors. When 
one or several material inputs are not observable on the market, fair value is determined mainly based on internal inputs and estimates that take into 
account the characteristics specific to the financial instrument and any factor relevant to the measurement. For complex financial instruments, significant 
judgment is made in determining the valuation technique to be used and in selecting inputs and adjustments associated with this technique. Due to the 
need to use estimates and make judgments when applying many valuation techniques, fair value estimates for identical or similar assets may differ 
between entities. Fair value reflects market conditions on a given date and may not be representative of future fair values. It should not be considered as 
being realizable in the event of immediate settlement of these instruments. 

Subordinated notes 

The fair value of subordinated notes is determined by discounting future cash flows using rates Desjardins Capital could obtain at period-end for securities 
with similar terms and maturities. 

Senior notes 

The fair value of senior notes is based on brokers’ quotes. 

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

At each reporting date, Desjardins Capital recognizes a loss allowance for expected credit losses for financial assets classified as at “amortized cost”. This 
allowance is based on the general impairment method, which consists of evaluating whether there have been significant increases in credit risk since initial 
recognition in order to determine whether the expected credit risks need to be recognized over the next 12 months or more for the life of the financial 
instrument. The financial assets of Desjardins Capital are not impaired financial assets and are considered not to have incurred a material increase in 
credit risk since their initial recognition. An allowance for expected credit losses is therefore recognized for the next 12 months.  

The loss allowance for expected credit losses reflects an unbiased amount, based on a probability-weighted present value of cash flow shortfalls, and 
takes into account reasonable and supportable information about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions. Generally, 
the loss allowance for expected credit losses represents the present value of the difference between cash flows that are due under the terms and 
conditions of the contract, and total cash flows that Desjardins Capital expects to receive. As at December 31, 2019 and 2018, the loss allowance for 
expected credit losses on the financial assets of Desjardins Capital was nil. 

INCOME TAXES

The income tax expense recorded on the Statement of Comprehensive Income comprises the current tax expense and the deferred tax expense. 

Total income tax expense is based on the expected tax treatment of transactions. To determine the current and deferred portions of this expense, 
management must make judgments to establish assumptions concerning the dates on which deferred income tax assets and liabilities will be reversed. 
Significant judgment must be used to interpret the relevant tax legislation in order to determine the income tax expense. If Desjardins Capital arrives at a 
different interpretation than taxation authorities or if the reversal dates do not correspond to the forecasted dates, the provision for income taxes may 
increase or decrease in subsequent years. 

Note 8, “Income taxes”, to the Financial Statements provides additional information on income taxes. 

5.4 Future accounting changes

As at December 31, 2019, there were no accounting standards issued by the IASB but not yet effective as at this date that would have an impact on 
Desjardins Capital.  
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6.0 Corporate governance disclosure and the Audit 
Committee

As a venture issuer that is not required to file an annual information form, Desjardins Capital must provide in its annual MD&A the information on 
governance required by Regulation 58-101 respecting Disclosure of Corporate Governance Practices, issued by the AMF, as well as the information on its 
Audit Committee required by Regulation 52-110 respecting Audit Committees, issued by the AMF. 

6.1 Corporate governance disclosure 

Desjardins Capital has a governance program that is harmonized with Desjardins Group’s governance program. The information on governance appearing 
in Desjardins Group’s Annual Report is incorporated by reference into this MD&A. 

6.2 Audit Committee disclosure 

RULES OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The rules of the Audit Committee are an integral part of the Audit Committee’s Charter presented in section 7.0 of this MD&A. 

COMPOSITION OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The members of the Audit Committee are Louis Babineau, Lisa Baillargeon, Johanne Charbonneau, Stéphane Corbeil, Jean-François Laporte and Pierre 
Perras. Each member of the Audit Committee is independent and has the financial literacy required under Regulation 52-110 respecting Audit 
Committees. Michel Doré sits on the Audit Committee as an observer. 

RELEVANT EDUCATION AND EXPERIENCE

The members of the Audit Committee have the education and experience required to assume their responsibilities in the Audit Committee. More 
specifically, their experience is as follows: 

• Louis Babineau, has a PhD in Business Administration. He is a tenured professor at Université du Québec à Rimouski, Lévis campus. Louis 
Babineau is also Chair of the Board of Directors of the Caisse Desjardins de Ste-Foy. He serves on the Boards of Directors of the Federation, 
Desjardins Technology Group Inc., Desjardins Capital and Desjardins Trust Inc. and is a member of the Audit and Inspection Commission and the 
Audit Committees of these entities. He is also a member of the Board of Directors of the Fonds de sécurité Desjardins.

• Lisa Baillargeon is a Chartered Professional Accountant (CPA) and has a doctorate and an MBA. She is Vice Dean as well as a professor and 
researcher at the Écoles de sciences de la gestion, at UQAM, and is also Chair of the Board of Directors of the Caisse Desjardins Charles-LeMoyne. 
Lisa Baillargeon serves on the Boards of Directors of the Federation, Desjardins Technology Group Inc., Desjardins Capital and Desjardins Trust Inc., 
and she is a member of the Audit and Inspection Commission and the Audit Committees of these entities. Lisa Baillargeon is also a member of the 
Board of Directors of the Fonds de sécurité Desjardins and the Corporate Governance Commission.  

• Johanne Charbonneau, Chair of the Committee, is a Chartered Professional Accountant (CPA) and has an MBA. She is retired from CBC/Radio-
Canada where she served as Chief Financial Officer. Johanne Charbonneau serves as external director on the Boards of Directors of the Federation, 
Desjardins Technology Group Inc., Desjardins Capital and Desjardins Trust Inc., and she is Chair of the Audit and Inspection Commission and the 
Audit Committees of these entities. Johanne Charbonneau is also a member of the Board of Directors of the Fonds de sécurité Desjardins and an 
observer of the Risk Management Commission.  

• Stéphane Corbeil has an MBA in Portfolio and Treasury Management and is a Chartered Financial Analyst (CFA). He is the president of TERIS 
Supply Services, Harvestech and Hydrogardens Supply Services. He is also Vice-Chair of the Board of Directors of the Caisse Desjardins du Nord de 
Laval. Stéphane Corbeil is a member of the Boards of Directors of the Federation, Desjardins Technology Group Inc., Desjardins Capital and 
Desjardins Trust Inc., and he is Chair of the Audit and Inspection Commission and the Audit Committees of these entities. Stéphane Corbeil is also 
Chair of the Board of Directors of the Fonds de sécurité Desjardins and a member of the Investment Commission.

• Jean-François Laporte has an MBA. He has more than 30 years of experience in senior financial and administrative positions, the majority of which 
have been with multinational manufacturing companies, and is a director of the Caisse Desjardins de la Pommeraie. Jean-François Laporte is a 
member of the Boards of Directors of the Federation, Desjardins Technology Group Inc., Desjardins Capital and Desjardins Trust Inc., and he is a 
member of the Audit and Inspection Commission and the Audit Committees of these entities. Jean-François Laporte is also Chair of the Board of 
Directors of Desjardins General Insurance Group.

• Pierre Perras has studied public administration and business administration at university. He is Vice-Chair of the Board of Directors of the Caisse 
Desjardins du Coeur-des-vallées. Pierre Perras serves on the Boards of Directors of the Federation, Desjardins Technology Group Inc., Desjardins 
Capital and Desjardins Trust Inc. and is a member of the Audit and Inspection Commission and the Audit Committees of these entities. He also serves 
on the Board of Directors of Fonds de sécurité Desjardins. 
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Members also have access to orientation and ongoing training processes. 

PRE-APPROVAL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES

The Board of Directors of the Federation has adopted a policy on contracts awarded by Desjardins Group components, including Desjardins Capital, for 
non-audit services. Under this policy, the Federation’s Audit and Inspection Commission has a legal responsibility for pre-approving non-audit services 
provided by Desjardins Group’s external auditors, whether they are provided to it as a whole or to one of its components. The objective is to eliminate 
threats to the external auditor’s independence or bring them to an acceptable level, thereby avoiding situations that could impair or be perceived to impair 
the external auditor’s judgment and objectivity. 

External auditor service fees (by category) 

For the periods begun January 1, 2019 and January 1, 2018 and ended December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
(PricewaterhouseCoopers) invoiced Desjardins Capital for the following fees on December 31, 2019. 

AUDIT FEES

2019  $14,096 
2018  $15,000 

These fees include annual audit and quarterly review engagement services. 

AUDIT-RELATED FEES

2019 $20,007 
2018 $30,700 

These fees are for work performed in the translation of financial reports. 

TAX FEES

No fees were invoiced in this category in 2019 and 2018. 

ALL OTHER FEES

No fees were invoiced in this category in 2019 and 2018. 

7.0 Audit Committee charter
7.1 The mandate 

The Board of Directors (the “Board”), within the scope of its monitoring, control and reporting responsibilities, delegates responsibility for monitoring the 
financial reporting process to the Audit Committee (the "Committee"). 

To this end, the Committee:  
 Reviews the interim and annual financial statements and the management discussion and analysis reports 
 Reviews press releases, as applicable, and the statement of executive compensation 
 Reviews financial reporting, in particular the external auditor’s report 
 Oversees the internal control system 
 Oversees the management of risks related to the financial reporting process 
 Oversees the monitoring and external audit processes 
 Oversees compliance management 
 Reviews any other element entrusted to it by the Board 
 Comments on the mandate of the finance team, within the scope of the Committee’s responsibilities 

The Committee also ensures the independence and objectivity of the independent auditor, the Chief Monitoring Officer of Desjardins Group, and 
Desjardins Capital’s Chief Compliance Officer. 
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Furthermore, the Committee encourages an environment conducive to transparent discussions between senior management, the independent auditor and 
the Chief Monitoring Officer of Desjardins Group. The Committee ensures that it understands the external audit strategies and the monitoring activities of 
the Desjardins Group Monitoring Office, and it takes into consideration the main audit and monitoring risks. The Committee monitors the work of the 
independent auditor and the Chief Monitoring Officer and evaluates their effectiveness. 

The Committee also sees to the development of the member-client culture so that the best interests of members and clients are central to actions and 
decisions. 

This Charter details how the Committee operates to fulfill the mandate entrusted to it by the Board. It complies with the regulatory requirements of 
Regulation 52-110 for a reporting issuer. Desjardins Capital, which is a venture reporting issuer, elected not to use the exemption for venture issuers. 
Where Regulation 52-110 provides no guidance, the rules pursuant to the Business Corporations Act (Québec), or the Group’s Policy on the Composition 
of Commissions and Committees have been cited.  

In addition, it should be noted that at Desjardins Group it is the Federation’s Human Resources Commission that assists the Board in its policy, planning 
and monitoring role, including making recommendations on policies and Group frameworks for human resources management and total compensation as 
well as the Group framework for succession, the executive succession plan, the development of and changes to the profiles of general managers, 
managers and employees, and follow-up on risks and the required action plans or programs. 

7.2 Operating principles  

The Committee assumes its responsibilities guided by the following principles:  

7.2.1 Rigour and compliance with controls 

The Committee expects management to act in accordance with the Desjardins Group Code of Ethics and Professional Conduct, the legislation and 
regulations that apply to Desjardins Capital, and the principles of sound governance, and adopt a rigorous approach to compliance, financial disclosure 
and oversight. 

7.2.2 Communications  

Through the Committee’s Chair, members expect to have direct access to management, the employees of the Federation assigned to the activities of 
Desjardins Capital, the independent auditor, the Vice-President and Chief Financial Officer of Desjardins Capital, the Chief Monitoring Officer of Desjardins 
Group, and the company’s Chief Compliance Officer. Committee members also encourage an environment conducive to frank, transparent and effective 
communication with these groups. 

7.2.3 Financial literacy 

Committee members are financially literate within the meaning of Regulation 52-110 respecting Audit Committees and, in particular, they are able to read 
and understand a set of financial statements that present a breadth and level of complexity of accounting issues that are generally comparable to the 
breadth and complexity of the issues that can reasonably be expected to be raised by reading the financial statements of Desjardins Capital.

7.2.4 Findings and information needs 

The Committee communicates its concerns to senior management, the independent auditor, and the Chief Monitoring Officer of Desjardins Group, 
according to the responsibilities of each.  

7.2.5 External resources  

In addition to any assistance it may receive from the independent auditor and the Desjardins Group Monitoring Office in performing its duties, the 
Committee may engage external resources with specialized expertise at the expense of Desjardins Capital. The Federation’s Governance Commission 
recommends to management the use of an external expert following a request from a director. 

7.2.6 Reports to the Board  

After each meeting, the Chair of the Committee submits a written report at the next Board meeting. 

7.2.7 Committee self-assessment 

Every two years, the Committee reviews and discusses its performance, and reviews its role, responsibilities, and the performance of its members through 
self-assessments performed by the members. 
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7.2.8 Independent auditor 

The independent auditor is accountable to the Board through the Committee, and reports any significant or potentially significant event to the Committee. 
He can convene a Committee meeting and must be advised of all Committee meetings. 

7.2.9 Monitoring by the Desjardins Group Monitoring Office (DGMO) 

The Committee expects the DGMO to provide independent and objective assurance of the design and effectiveness of governance and risk management 
processes and internal controls as well as their appropriateness to the activities of Desjardins Group. 

7.2.10 Risk management 

Under its financial reporting oversight responsibilities, the Committee monitors financial risks and the related internal controls, consistently with the work of 
the Federation’s Risk Management Commission. 

7.2.11 Compliance  

The Committee expects the company’s Chief Compliance Officer to provide assurance as to the degree of control over regulatory compliance and to 
express an opinion on the application and adequacy of compliance management mechanisms. 

7.2.12 Regulators  

The Committee meets whenever necessary and reports on its activities to regulators, including the Autorité des marchés financiers (AMF).  

7.2.13 Investigative power  

The Committee may investigate any matter within its competence. To this end, it has full access to the books, records, facilities and members of 
management and staff of Desjardins Capital. Two members of the Committee may convene a meeting of the Board to discuss any matter of concern to 
Committee members. 

7.3 Operations 

The Committee operates as follows: 

7.3.1 Composition

 The Committee is composed of six members appointed by the Board, including the Chair. Each member of the Committee is a member of the Board. 
All Committee members must be independent, in accordance with Regulation 52-110. They must be free from any relationship or interest that might 
interfere with the exercise of their independent judgment. In the event of a tie vote of the members, the vote of the Chair of the Committee prevails. 

 The Chair of the Committee is designated in accordance with Desjardins Group’s Policy on the Composition of Commissions and Committees. The 
Chair of the Committee does not serve as chair of the Board or of any other committee reporting to the Board. The Chair of the Committee must have 
all the qualifications required to serve on the Committee. If the Chair of the Committee is absent from a meeting, a member of the Committee will be 
designated by the Committee to conduct the meeting. 

 The term of a member’s mandate ranges from one to six years, and may be extended by one or two years in certain exceptional circumstances. 
However, to ensure continuity, it is preferable that all members not be replaced in the same year.  

 The Committee’s secretary is a person who is appointed by the Committee but is not a member of the Committee. 
 The head of oversight at Desjardins Group and the Vice-President and Chief Financial Officer of Desjardins Capital jointly assume the role of 

functional leadership of the Committee. 
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7.3.2 Core member qualifications 

Core member qualifications mainly include: 
 Financial literacy, which can be acquired within a reasonable timeframe following the member’s appointment 
 Business experience, relevant specialized qualifications, sound judgment and pragmatism 
 Objectivity, integrity and independent thought 
 Capacity for diligence 
 Familiarity with the activities of Desjardins Capital and the industry 

When selecting members of the Committee, the Board prefers individuals with experience in audit, financial reporting, accounting and risk management 
practices. 

7.3.3 Training and development 

7.3.3.1 The Committee must offer new members an information or orientation session explaining, among other things, the mandate of the Committee, 
the role and responsibilities of its members, the activities of Desjardins Capital, its financial statements, accounting practices and standards, 
financial policies, internal control requirements, financial ratios, risks, and requirements of regulators and compliance policies. 

7.3.3.2 Members are responsible for enquiring about new practices that are likely to influence the Committee’s role and responsibilities in order to 
propose that the Board make any necessary changes to redefine its mandate. 

7.3.3.3 Members are to receive information periodically on new accounting standards and recommendations issued by the Accounting Standards Board 
and regulators and on international practices, and their repercussions on the entity if the impact is material. They are to receive information 
periodically, where available, on sound practices regarding compliance policies and the internal control environment.  

7.3.4 Meetings: frequency, participation and compensation 

7.3.4.1 Statutory meetings are to be determined at the beginning of the year, in accordance with a schedule approved by the Board, and must be held 
at least once every quarter. When necessary, other meetings may be added in the course of the year. For their services, Committee members 
receive compensation that is set according to policy in effect for the entity.  

7.3.4.2 Meeting participation 

Regular attendees: 
 Committee members 
 The General Manager of Desjardins Capital
 The Vice-President and Chief Financial Officer of Desjardins Capital
 The Chief Monitoring Officer, Desjardins Group 
 The independent auditor  
 The person acting as secretary of the Committee 

Other attendees: 
 The Committee may invite any individual from Desjardins Group to attend all or part of Committee meetings, as it deems necessary or 

desirable. 

Quorum for any meeting is a majority of members. However, if a quorum is no longer present due to a requirement for one or several members 
to leave the meeting, quorum is reduced to the number of voting members present for the duration of deliberations on that issue. A vacancy on 
the Committee is filled by the Board, if deemed appropriate. Failure to fill a vacancy does not invalidate the decisions of the Committee if there is 
quorum. 

The Committee includes, on the agenda for each meeting or on an ad hoc basis, a private discussion period with or without managers or 
observers present. 

7.3.4.3 The Committee carries out annual planning of its activities, including: 
 Annual activity plan of the Committee 
 Update of the Committee’s charter 
 Review of the organization chart of Desjardins Capital to assess whether any changes to the Committee’s activities are necessary 
 Confirmation of Committee members’ independence 
 Assessment of Committee members’ financial literacy 
 Planning for member training on accounting/regulatory developments and other relevant subjects 
 Setting of the annual Committee meeting schedule 
 A performance evaluation is also carried out, every two years, of the Committee and each of its members. 

7.3.4.4 The Committee records the content of each of its meetings in duly approved minutes. 
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7.4 Duties and responsibilities  

The Committee has the following duties and responsibilities: 

7.4.1 Financial information 

The Committee reviews, and recommends that the Board approves, before their publication, the interim and annual financial statements, management’s 
discussion and analysis and ancillary documents. The Committee ensures the quality and integrity of the presentation and reporting of financial 
information in accordance with IFRS, and the use of adequate accounting practices. The Committee ensures that the financial reporting of Desjardins 
Capital is clear, exhaustive, relevant to users, consistent over time and comparable from one financial entity to the next. 

7.4.1.1 Quarterly and annually:  
 Determine whether the financial statements and management’s discussion and analysis present fairly the financial position and results and 

activities for the period 
 Assess the financial statements’ quality and compliance with IFRS 
 Assess whether management uses the appropriate accounting practices, applied consistently, and obtain the opinion of the independent 

auditor thereon 
 Verify whether accounting practices are comparable to those used in the industry or other Desjardins Group entities 
 Review, with management and the independent auditor, the effects of adopting new accounting policies 
 Review with management the significant decisions made in preparing the financial statements and management’s discussion and analysis 
 Obtain a letter from management certifying the reliability of the results and use of appropriate accounting practices (management 

representation letter) 
 Review and revise the processes regarding financial certification, the information disclosed in the management’s discussion and analysis, 

and the certificate signed by the Chair of the Board of Directors and CEO of Desjardins Capital, and by the Vice-President and Chief 
Financial Officer of Desjardins Capital, that are to be included in the annual and interim public filings of Desjardins Capital in compliance with 
Regulation 52-109 

 Pay close attention to complex or unusual transactions, particularly acquisitions, discontinued operations and related party transactions 
 Review, specifically, issues requiring subjectivity, such as assessments of assets and liabilities, provisions/reserves (including tax provisions) 

and other commitments 
 Review litigations and determine whether they are sufficiently provisioned  
 Ensure that materiality is adhered to 
 Ensure that the regulatory ratios are met and that the statement of financial position is balanced, as well as the liquidity and funding capacity 

indicators 
 Review press releases containing significant financial information as well as any other significant financial communications 
 Review the impact on the financial statements of new regulatory or accounting measures as well as off-balance sheet structures 
 Review the independent auditor’s report accompanying the annual and interim financial statements 
 Pay particular attention to the disclosure of performance measures, including non-IFRS financial measures, in particular their consistency, 

comparability and transparency with those of industry and other entities of Desjardins Group  
 Meet privately on a quarterly basis with the Vice-President and Chief Financial Officer of Desjardins Capital 
 Recommend that the Board approve the financial statements and the MD&As 

7.4.1.2 Annually, the Committee is required to: 
 Review the Statement of Executive Compensation and recommend its approval to the Board 
 Oversee the application and updating, as needed, of Desjardins Group’s Material Financial Disclosure Policy and recommend its approval to 

the Board 
 Ensure that appropriate procedures are in place for reviewing public disclosures of financial information extracted or derived from the 

financial statements other than information provided for in the documents stipulated in section 7.4.1 and for periodically reviewing the 
suitability of these procedures 

 Review tax and tax planning issues that are important for financial statements 
 Ensure that all taxes, income taxes and payroll deductions have been paid for Desjardins Capital 

7.4.1.3 Review prospectuses before their publication when securities are issued and programs renewed. 



Management’s Discussion and Analysis – 2019 Annual Report of Desjardins Capital Inc. 

20

7.4.2 Internal controls  

The Committee ensures that management has designed and implemented an effective internal control system with regard to financial reporting, 
safekeeping of assets, detection of fraud and compliance. 

7.4.2.1 Require that management design, implement and maintain internal control procedures, including controls for preventing, identifying and 
detecting fraud, and evaluate their efficiency. 

7.4.2.2 Review the actions of management following recommendations made by the independent auditor and the Chief Monitoring Officer of Desjardins 
Group regarding internal controls. 

7.4.2.3 Receive from management, the independent auditor, the Chief Monitoring Officer of Desjardins Group, the Vice-President and CFO of 
Desjardins Capital, as well as from other units, regular reports on major control deviations or the detection of fraud, including those involving 
management, and how such shortcomings have been corrected. 

7.4.2.4 Obtain from management an annual evaluation of the effectiveness of its internal control system and mechanisms including the audit strategy for 
outsourced services, as well as the audit results. 

7.4.2.5 Review fraud detection and prevention programs and policies. 

7.4.2.6 Ensure that procedures are in place for the receipt, retention and handling of complaints received regarding accounting, internal accounting 
controls and audit matters and that reporting is received thereon. 

7.4.2.7 Ensure that procedures are in place so that employees of the Federation appointed to the activities of Desjardins Capital can confidentially and 
anonymously submit their concerns regarding questionable accounting or audit matters, and that reporting is received thereon.  

7.4.2.8 Ensure that a report is received annually from the person responsible for financial governance. 

7.4.3 Risk management  

7.4.3.1 Work closely with the Federation’s Risk Management Commission to ensure that the material financial risks are adequately managed and 
controlled. Discuss the measures taken to manage and present the related information. 

7.4.3.2 Obtain an opinion from the independent auditor and the Chief Monitoring Officer of Desjardins Group regarding financial reporting risks.  

7.4.3.3 Meet annually and as required, in the performance of the Committee’s responsibilities, with the General Counsel, the Senior Vice-President, 
Information Technologies and other Desjardins Group units, as required. 

7.4.3.4 Meet privately, on an annual and ad hoc basis, with the General Manager of Desjardins Capital. 

7.4.4 Compliance  

Ensure that Desjardins Capital has and applies a compliance management framework that provides its Chief Compliance Officer with reasonable 
assurance that regulations are adhered to and regulatory risks are effectively managed. 

7.4.4.1 Ensure and maintain the independence of the company’s Chief Compliance Officer. 

7.4.4.2 Examine his/her reports in connection with compliance management, anti-money laundering and anti-terrorist financing, the fight against tax 
evasion, sound business practices including the protection of personal information, and the effectiveness and adequacy of the compliance 
framework for Desjardins Capital. 

7.4.4.3 Ensure that he/she has sufficient resources to appropriately discharge his/her responsibilities in respect of Desjardins Capital. 

7.4.4.4 Examine the reports of the DGMO on compliance management and on the application and effectiveness of compliance management 
mechanisms. Ensure that appropriate follow-up is carried out. 

7.4.4.5 Meet privately, on an annual or ad hoc basis, with the company’s Chief Compliance Officer, the Chief Anti-Money Laundering and Anti-Tax 
Evasion Officer and the Chief Privacy Officer. 

7.4.5  Regulators  

7.4.5.1 Examine the relevant correspondence on requests or investigations concerning internal controls and all other relevant reports from the 
supervisory agencies regarding Desjardins Capital and falling under the Committee’s purview and ensure follow-up. 

7.4.5.2 Examine reports for submission to the regulators that are considered relevant and that fall under the Committee’s purview and ensure that their 
requirements are met. 
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7.4.6 External audit  

The independent auditor is directly accountable to the Committee. The Committee is directly responsible for monitoring the work of the independent 
auditor engaged to prepare or deliver the annual audit and interim review reports and provide other audit, review and certification services. The Committee 
must evaluate and oversee the independence, objectivity and effectiveness of the independent auditor. 

In order to meet its responsibilities in this respect, the Committee must: 

7.4.6.1 Ensure and maintain the competencies, independence and objectivity of the independent auditor by: 

7.4.6.1.1 Reviewing, on an annual basis, its performance, in particular to assess his/her effectiveness and the quality of his/her services in 
order to be able to recommend his/her appointment and reappointment to the Board, under Desjardins Group’s institutional policy 
regarding the independent auditors. 

7.4.6.1.2 Establishing and recommending to the Board his/her compensation.  

7.4.6.1.3 Giving pre-approvals for all non-audit services provided to Desjardins Capital in accordance with Desjardins Group’s institutional 
policy regarding the independent auditors. 

7.4.6.1.4 Recommending policies to the Board and adopting specific procedures for retaining services unrelated to audits. 

7.4.6.1.5 Ensuring that management complies with the current procurement policy or rules for granting service contracts to the independent 
auditor. 

7.4.6.1.6 Receiving, each quarter, a detailed list of new mandates granted by the entity. 

7.4.6.1.7 Having direct communication access. 

7.4.6.1.8 Reviewing the hiring policies in connection with the independent auditor’s former or current partners and employees, whether this is 
the former or current auditor, as described in Desjardins Group’s institutional policy regarding the independent auditors, and 
recommending their approval to the Board. 

7.4.6.1.9 Overseeing the rotation of the engagement, concurring and other audit partners. 

7.4.6.1.10 Reviewing the internal policies and procedures followed by the auditor to maintain his/her independence and by engaging him/her in 
discussions of such policies and procedures. 

7.4.6.1.11 Obtaining confirmation of the auditor’s independence on an annual basis along with indications of all the connections that the 
independent auditor and his/her firm have, in carrying out related activities, with Desjardins Capital and its related parties and that, 
based on his/her professional judgment, may reasonably be expected to influence his/her independence. 

7.4.6.2 Approve the scope of the annual audit plan and proposed approach. 

7.4.6.3 Review materiality annually based on audit risks. 

7.4.6.4 Examine the auditor’s post-audit report and comment on such items as audit highlights, summary of audit differences (corrected or not), quality 
of the accounting principles applied and work on fraud. 

7.4.6.5 Ensure compliance with accounting practices and that such practices are conservative and appropriate. 

7.4.6.6 Examine and ensure follow-up on the recommendation letter or any other report addressed to management. 

7.4.6.7 Question the coordination and use of its work with that carried out by the Chief Monitoring Officer of Desjardins Group. 

7.4.6.8 Once each year, discuss with the independent auditor their internal quality control procedures and the summary of their Canadian Public 
Accountability Board (CPAB) inspection results. 

7.4.6.9 Discuss the recognition and presentation of certain transactions, estimates, decisions and assumptions made by management. 

7.4.6.10 Resolve disputes between management and the independent auditor in connection with financial reporting, as applicable. 

7.4.6.11  Meet privately with the independent auditor on a quarterly basis. 

7.4.6.12 Ensure that the independent auditor has the competencies and resources to properly discharge his/her responsibilities. 
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7.4.7 Monitoring by the DGMO 

The Chief Monitoring Officer of Desjardins Group receives his or her mandate from the Act1 for monitoring the caisse network, Desjardins Group’s Audit 
and Inspection Commission (AIC) and the Audit Committees/Commissions for monitoring the subsidiaries. The Monitoring function’s responsibilities are 
defined by the AIC and the subsidiaries’ Audit Committees/Commissions in connection with their respective oversight roles. 

The AIC and the subsidiaries’ Audit Committees/Commissions contribute to the performance assessment and effectiveness of the Monitoring function.  

The AIC makes recommendations to the Board on decisions to appoint, reappoint and remove the Chief Monitoring Officer of Desjardins Group. The 
chairs of the subsidiaries’ Audit Committees/Commissions are stakeholders in these decisions. 

To this end, the Committee is required to:  

7.4.7.1 Ensure that the Chief Monitoring Officer of Desjardins Group is independent and objective and that this independence is maintained. 

7.4.7.2 Understand the strategies used to develop the DGMO’s annual internal audit plan (which includes monitoring the caisse network). 

7.4.7.3 Ensure that the DGMO’s annual internal audit plan focuses on the main risks of the organization. 

7.4.7.4 Approve the DGMO’s annual internal audit plan and any subsequent amendments made thereto. 

7.4.7.5 Ensure that the DGMO’s annual internal audit plan is executed and receive, on a quarterly basis, an adequate account of the audit work 
performed. 

7.4.7.6 Ensure that appropriate measures are taken by management and follow up on the recommendations with the DGMO. 

7.4.7.7 Ensure that the Chief Monitoring Officer of Desjardins Group discloses to it any significant outsourcing arrangements with external providers 
subject to the requirements of Desjardins Group’s Directive on managing operational risk. 

7.4.7.8 Coordinate the DGMO’s work with the independent auditor. 

7.4.7.9 Resolve any disputes between management and the Chief Monitoring Officer of Desjardins Group and review any difficulties identified during its 
work. 

7.4.7.10 Ensure that the Chief Monitoring Officer has the resources required and sufficient access to information to properly discharge its responsibilities.  

7.4.7.11 Meet privately with the Chief Monitoring Officer of Desjardins Group on a quarterly basis. 

7.4.8 Finance team 

To this end, the Committee may:  

7.4.8.1 Where deemed necessary, address comments to the General Manager of Desjardins Capital concerning execution of the mandate of the 
Finance function of Desjardins Capital within the scope of the Committee’s responsibilities. 

1
An Act respecting financial services cooperatives (R.S.Q., chapter C-67.3)
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Annual Report by the Audit Committee  
 
 
The role of the Audit Committee (AC) is to support the Board of Directors of Desjardins Capital Inc. (Desjardins Capital) in its oversight responsibilities. Its 
mandate consists primarily of: 

• Analyzing the financial statements and Management’s Discussion and Analysis and their presentation 
• Ensuring the quality and integrity of financial reporting and the use of accepted accounting practices 
• Overseeing the management of significant financial risks 
• Ensuring that an effective internal control system is in place 
• Overseeing the work of the internal auditor and independent auditor 
• Ensuring that a compliance management framework is applied 

 
The AC reviews Desjardins Capital’s interim and annual financial statements and Management’s Discussion and Analysis, all prospectuses and its 
statement of executive compensation. The AC ensures that management has designed and implemented an effective internal control system with respect 
to the organization’s business processes, financial reporting, safeguarding of assets, fraud detection and regulatory compliance. It also ensures that 
management has set up systems to manage the principal risks that may influence the financial results of Desjardins Capital. The AC analyzes the 
information resulting from this financial governance process every quarter. 
 
The independent auditor is under the authority of the AC. To fulfill its responsibilities in this regard, the AC ensures and preserves the independent 
auditor’s independence and objectivity by authorizing all of its non-audit services, by recommending its appointment or reappointment to Desjardins 
Capital’s Board of Directors, by setting and recommending auditor compensation and by conducting annual auditor evaluations. In addition, the AC 
supervises the work of the independent auditor and examines its audit proposal, its mandate, its annual audit plan, its reports, its letter to management 
and management’s comments. Desjardins Group has adopted a policy that governs the awarding of contracts for related services, which addresses the 
following issues: (a) services that can or cannot be provided by the independent auditor, (b) governance procedures that must be followed before 
mandates can be awarded, and (c) responsibilities of key stakeholders. Accordingly, the AC receives a quarterly report on the contracts awarded to the 
independent auditor by Desjardins Capital. 
 
The AC ensures the independence and objectivity of the internal audit function, which is performed by the Desjardins Group Monitoring Office. The AC 
analyzes the annual internal audit plan as well as the internal audit team’s responsibilities and objectivity. It ensures the plan is carried out, reviews the 
internal audit results and, if necessary, takes appropriate follow-up action. As part of these duties, the AC meets with the head of internal audit at 
Desjardins Group to discuss any major issues submitted to management. 
 
With respect to Desjardins Capital’s relations with the Autorité des marchés financiers (AMF) in Québec, the AC reviews and follows up on the inspection 
reports issued by the AMF and reviews the financial reports that are submitted each quarter to the AMF.  
 
The AC meets privately with: the independent auditor; the General Manager of Desjardins Capital; the Vice-President and Chief Financial Officer of 
Desjardins Capital; and the Chief Monitoring Officer of Desjardins Group. It reports to the Board of Directors on a quarterly basis and, if necessary, makes 
recommendations. Lastly, in accordance with sound corporate governance practices, once a year the AC reviews the degree of efficiency and 
effectiveness with which it has executed the tasks set out in its charter. 
 
The AC is made up of six independent directors, including one external director appointed on May 14, 2019, and one observer. The observer is a caisse 
general manager who sits on the Board of Directors of the Fédération des caisses Desjardins du Québec (the Federation). Except for this general 
manager, none of the AC members receives direct or indirect compensation from Desjardins Group for services other than those rendered as a member of 
the Board of Directors of the Federation or other Desjardins Group entities, including their committees and commissions. 
 
In light of the significant changes made to accounting and financial reporting requirements, the AC members attended a number of presentations and one 
training session during the year. The subjects covered in these activities included changes to the International Financial Reporting Standards, the impact 
of changes to corporate governance standards and regulations, anti-money laundering measures and sound commercial practices. All AC members 
possess the knowledge required to read and interpret the financial statements of a financial institution, according to the criteria established in the AC’s 
charter. 
 
The AC held five meetings and one training session for its members in fiscal 2019. As at December 31, 2019, the six independent directors who are 
members of the AC are: Johanne Charbonneau, FCPA, FCGA; Lisa Baillargeon, CPA, CMA; Louis Babineau; Stéphane Corbeil; Jean-François Laporte 
and Pierre Perras. The observer is Michel Doré. During fiscal 2019, Mario Simard and Michel Tourangeau also participated in the AC’s activities. 
 
 
Johanne Charbonneau, FCPA, FCGA 
Chair   
 
Montréal, Québec 
February 24, 2020 
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Management’s Responsibility for Financial Reporting 
 
 
The financial statements of Desjardins Capital Inc. (Desjardins Capital) and all information included in its annual Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
are the responsibility of management, which is responsible for ensuring reporting integrity and accuracy. 
 
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board, and the accounting requirements of the Autorité des marchés financiers (AMF) in Québec, which do not differ from IFRS. 
The IFRS represents Canada’s generally accepted accounting principles. These financial statements necessarily contain amounts established by 
management based on estimates which it deems fair and reasonable. All financial information in the annual Management’s Discussion and Analysis is 
consistent with these audited financial statements. 
 
Desjardins Capital management is responsible for the accuracy of its financial statements and related information, as well as the accounting systems from 
which they are derived, for which purpose it maintains controls over transactions and related accounting practices. These controls are designed to provide 
reasonable assurance that the financial accounts are complete and accurate, assets are protected and records are kept appropriately. Such controls 
include an organizational structure that ensures effective segregation of duties, a code of professional conduct, hiring and training standards, policies and 
procedure manuals, and regularly updated control methods, designed to ensure adequate supervision of operations. The internal control system is 
supported by a compliance team, which helps management ensure that all regulatory requirements are met, and a team from the Desjardins Group 
Monitoring Office, which has full and unrestricted access to the Audit Committee. Management has also implemented a financial governance structure 
based on market best practices. In our capacities as Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of Desjardins Capital, we have overseen the 
process to assess financial information communication procedures and controls as well as internal control over financial reporting. As at December 31, 
2019, we concluded that information communication procedures and controls and internal control over financial reporting were effective. 
 
The AMF examines the affairs of Desjardins Capital on a regular basis. 
 
For the purposes of approving the financial information contained in the annual report, the Board of Directors of Desjardins Capital relies on the 
recommendation of the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee is mandated by the Board of Directors to review Desjardins Capital’s financial statements 
and its Management's Discussion and Analysis. In addition, the Audit Committee, comprising independent directors, including an external director 
appointed on May 14, 2019, and one observer who is neither management nor staff of Desjardins Capital, exercises an oversight role to ensure that 
management has developed and implemented adequate control procedures and systems to deliver quality financial reporting that includes all the required 
disclosures within the required timeframes. 
 
The financial statements were audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, the independent auditor appointed by the General Meeting of the Fédération des 
caisses Desjardins du Québec, whose report follows. The independent auditor may meet with the members of the Audit Committee at any time to discuss its 
audit and any related issues, including the integrity of the financial information provided and the quality of internal control systems. 
 
 
 
Guy Cormier Alain Leprohon, CPA, CA 
Chair of the Board of Directors  Interim Chief Financial Officer  
and Chief Executive Officer  Desjardins Capital Inc. 
Desjardins Capital Inc. 
 
 
Montréal, Québec 
February 26, 2020 
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Independent auditor’s report 
 
 

To the Shareholder of Desjardins Capital Inc. 
 
Our opinion 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Desjardins Capital Inc. (the Company) 
as at December 31, 2019 and 2018, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IFRS). 
 
What we have audited 
 
The Company’s financial statements comprise: 
 

• the balance sheets as at December 31, 2019 and 2018; 
• the statements of comprehensive income for the years then ended; 
• the statements of changes in shareholder’s equity for the years then ended; 
• the statements of cash flows for the years then ended; and 
• the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies. 

 
Certain required disclosures have been presented elsewhere in the Management’s Discussion and Analysis, rather than in the notes to the financial 
statements. These disclosures are cross-referenced from the financial statements and are identified as audited. 
 
Basis for opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Independence 
 
We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada. We 
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 
 
Other information 
 
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Management's Discussion and Analysis. 
 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information identified above and, in doing so, consider 
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated. 
 
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. 
We have nothing to report in this regard. 
 
Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the financial statements 
 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with IFRS, and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company 
or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.  
 
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 
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As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but 

not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. 
 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by 
management. 

 
• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, 

whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.  

 
• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements 

represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 
 
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit 
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.  

 

 
 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP/s.r.l./s.e.n.c.r.l.(1) 

(1) CPA auditor, CA, public accountancy permit No. A111799 
 
 
Montréal, Québec 
February 26, 2020 
 



 Financial Statements – 2019 Annual Report of Desjardins Capital Inc. 

 

28 

Balance Sheets 
     

  As at As at 

(in thousands of Canadian dollars) Notes December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018 

ASSETS   

Current assets 

 Cash and deposits with financial institutions  $ 19,843 $ 18,006 

 Interest receivable 8,727 8,712 

 Subordinated notes issued by Desjardins caisses of Québec, series G, at cost  900,000 - 

Total current assets 928,570 26,718 

Non-current assets     

 Subordinated notes issued by Desjardins caisses of Québec, at cost 3 and 5     

 Series G - 900,000 

 Series J 500,000 500,000 

Total non-current assets 500,000 1,400,000 

TOTAL ASSETS $ 1,428,570 $ 1,426,718 

     
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDER'S EQUITY     

LIABILITIES     

Current liabilities     

 Interest payable 5 $ 8,363 $ 8,363 

 Other accrued liabilities  81 27 

 Income taxes payable  65 25 

 Senior notes, Series G  899,807 - 

Total current liabilities  908,316 8,415 

Non-current liabilities      

 Senior notes 5     

 Series G  - 899,264 

 Series J  499,358 499,050 

   499,358 1,398,314 

 Deferred tax liabilities 8 221 448 

Total non-current liabilities  499,579 1,398,762 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  1,407,895 1,407,177 
       SHAREHOLDER'S EQUITY      

 Capital stock 6 1,010 1,010 

 Retained earnings  19,665 18,531 

TOTAL SHAREHOLDER'S EQUITY  20,675 19,541 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDER'S EQUITY  $ 1,428,570 $ 1,426,718 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Financial Statements.  

   

On behalf of the Board of Directors of Desjardins Capital Inc.,   

       

Guy Cormier  Serge Rousseau 

Chair of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer Vice-Chair of the Board of Directors 
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Statements of Comprehensive Income        
For the years ended December 31    

     

(in thousands of Canadian dollars) Note 2019  2018  

INTEREST INCOME        

 Subordinated notes issued by Desjardins caisses of Québec      

 Series G  $ 48,483 $ 48,483

 Series J   25,770 25,770

 Cash   347 261

    74,600 74,514

INTEREST EXPENSE    

  Senior notes    

 Series G    47,226 47,199

 Series J    25,078 25,063

    72,304 72,262

NET INTEREST INCOME   2,296 2,252

NON-INTEREST EXPENSE   

  Professional fees   697 868

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES   1,599 1,384

  Income tax expense 8  425 370

NET INCOME AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR  $ 1,174 $ 1,014

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Financial Statements.   
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Statements of Changes in Shareholder's Equity  
For the years ended December 31         

        

(in thousands of Canadian dollars) Capital stock 
Retained 
earnings 

Total shareholder's 
equity 

BALANCE AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2017 $ 1,010 $ 17,557 $ 18,567 
Net income and comprehensive income for the year - 1,014 1,014 
Dividends on common shares - (40) (40)
BALANCE AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2018 $ 1,010 $ 18,531 $ 19,541 

Net income and comprehensive income for the year - 1,174 1,174 
Dividends on common shares - (40) (40)
BALANCE AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2019 $ 1,010 $ 19,665 $ 20,675 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Financial Statements.  
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Statements of Cash Flows      

For the years ended December 31      

    

(in thousands of Canadian dollars) 2019 2018 

CASH FLOWS FROM (USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES     
Income before income taxes $ 1,599 $ 1,384 
Non-cash adjustments:  
 Net change in interest receivable and payable (15) (10) 
 Net change in other receivables and other accrued liabilities 54 (67) 
 Capitalized expenses on senior notes 851 809 
Income taxes paid (612) (454) 
  1,877 1,662 
CASH FLOWS FROM (USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES  
Dividends paid on common shares (40) (40) 
  (40) (40) 
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 1,837 1,622 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 18,006 16,384 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR $ 19,843 $ 18,006 

Supplemental information on cash flows from (used in) operating activities  
 Interest paid $ 71,453 $ 71,453 
 Interest received 74,585 74,504 
      

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Financial Statements.  
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
 
 

NOTE 1 – INFORMATION ON DESJARDINS CAPITAL INC. 

 
Nature of operations 
 
Desjardins Capital Inc. (Desjardins Capital), incorporated under Part 1A of the Companies Act (Québec) and continued under the Business Corporations 
Act (Québec), was established to issue its own senior notes on capital markets and invest the proceeds thereof in subordinated notes issued by the 
Desjardins caisses of Québec. The Desjardins caisses are governed by the Act respecting financial services cooperatives and are affiliated with the 
Fédération des caisses Desjardins du Québec (the Federation), the parent company of Desjardins Capital. The address of Desjardins Capital’s head office 
is 100 Des Commandeurs Street, Lévis, Québec, Canada. 
  
 
 
 

NOTE 2 – BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 

BASIS OF PRESENTATION 
 
Statement of compliance 
 
These Financial Statements have been prepared by Desjardins Capital’s management in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the accounting requirements of the Autorité des marchés financiers (AMF) in 
Québec, which do not differ from IFRS. 
 
The Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2019 were approved by the Board of Directors of Desjardins Capital on February 26, 2020.  
 
The significant measurement and presentation rules applied to prepare these Financial Statements are described below. 
 
Significant judgments, estimates and assumptions 
 
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires management to make judgments and estimates and rely on assumptions which 
have an impact on the reported amount of certain assets, liabilities, income and expenses as well as related disclosures. The significant accounting 
policies that required management to make difficult, subjective or complex judgments, often about matters that are inherently uncertain are related to the 
determination of the fair value of financial instruments, the expected life of senior notes, income and expenses for the relevant years and income taxes. 
Consequently, actual results could differ from those estimates and assumptions. 
 
Presentation and functional currency 
 
These Financial Statements are expressed in Canadian dollars, which is also the functional currency of Desjardins Capital. Dollar amounts presented in 
the tables of the Notes to the Financial Statements are in thousands of dollars, unless otherwise stated.  
 
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

a) Financial assets and liabilities 
 
Financial assets and liabilities are recognized on the date Desjardins Capital becomes a party to their contractual provisions, namely the date of 
acquisition or issuance of the financial instrument. 
 
Classification and measurement 
 
Financial assets are classified based on their contractual cash flow characteristics and the business model under which they are held. 
 
Contractual cash flow characteristics  
 
In order to meet the cash flow characteristics criterion for purposes of classifying a financial asset, the cash flows from this asset must be solely payments 
of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. Principal is generally the fair value of the financial asset at initial recognition. Interest consists 
mainly of consideration for the time value of money and for the credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of 
time. 
 
Business models  
 
Desjardins Capital’s business models are determined in a manner that reflects how groups of financial assets are managed to achieve a particular 
business objective. The business models refer to how Desjardins Capital manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows. They therefore 
reflect whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling financial assets or both. All the financial assets of Desjardins Capital are 
held within a business model whose objective is achieved by collecting contractual cash flows. 
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The classification and measurement of the financial assets and liabilities of Desjardins Capital is summarized as follows: 
 

 Classes 
Recognition 

Initial Subsequent 

Financial assets Amortized cost (i) Fair value Amortized cost 

Financial liabilities Amortized cost (ii) Fair value Amortized cost 

 
i) All the financial assets of Desjardins Capital are included in the “Amortized cost” class. Securities included in this class are financial assets that are held 

within a business model whose objective is achieved by collecting contractual cash flows and meet the criteria of the contractual cash flow test 
performed to determine whether cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest. 

 
Securities included in this class are initially recognized at fair value in the Balance Sheets and, at subsequent reporting dates, they are measured at 
amortized cost using the effective interest method. Income recognized on securities included in the “Amortized cost” class is presented under “Interest 
income” in the Statements of Comprehensive Income. 
 

ii) All financial liabilities are included in the “Amortized cost” class. They are initially recognized at fair value in the Balance Sheets and, at subsequent 
reporting dates, they are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Interest expense on securities included in the “Amortized 
cost” class is recognized under “Interest expense” in the Statements of Comprehensive Income. 

 
Determination of the fair value of financial instruments 
 
The fair value of a financial instrument is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 
market participants at the measurement date. 
 
There is little subjectivity in the determination of the fair value of financial instruments obtained from quoted prices on active markets. This fair value is 
based on the quoted price within the bid-ask spread that is most representative of fair value in the circumstances. 
 
If there are no quoted prices on active markets, fair value is determined using models that maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of 
unobservable inputs. In such cases, fair value estimates are established using valuation techniques such as cash flow discounting, comparisons with 
similar financial instruments, option pricing models and other valuation techniques commonly used by market participants, if these techniques have been 
demonstrated to provide reliable estimates. Valuation techniques rely on assumptions concerning the amount and timing of estimated future cash flows 
and discount rates that are mainly based on observable data, such as interest rate yield curves, exchange rates, credit curves and volatility factors. When 
one or several material inputs are not observable on the market, fair value is determined mainly based on internal inputs and estimates that take into 
account the characteristics specific to the financial instrument and any factor relevant to the measurement. For complex financial instruments, significant 
judgment is made in determining the valuation technique to be used and in selecting inputs and adjustments associated with this technique. Due to the 
need to use estimates and make judgments when applying many valuation techniques, fair value estimates for identical or similar assets may differ 
between entities. Fair value reflects market conditions on a given date and may not be representative of future fair values. It should not be considered as 
being realizable in the event of immediate settlement of these instruments.   
 
Subordinated notes 
 
The fair value of subordinated notes is determined by discounting future cash flows using rates Desjardins Capital could obtain at period-end for securities 
with similar terms and maturities. 
 
Senior notes 
 
The fair value of senior notes is based on brokers’ quotes. 
 
Financial instruments whose fair value equals their carrying amount 
 
The carrying amount of certain financial instruments that mature in the next 12 months is a reasonable approximation of their fair value. These financial 
instruments include the following items: “Cash and deposits with financial institutions”, “Interest receivable”, “Interest payable” and “Other accrued 
liabilities”. 
 
Transaction costs 
 
Transaction costs for financial instruments are capitalized and then amortized over the life of the instrument using the effective interest method.  
 

b) Cash and deposits with financial institutions 
 
“Cash and deposits with financial institutions” includes cash and cash equivalents. Cash equivalents correspond to deposits with financial institutions. 
These financial instruments mature in the short term, are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes 
in value. 
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c) Impairment of financial instruments  
 
At each reporting date, Desjardins Capital recognizes a loss allowance for expected credit losses for financial assets classified as at “Amortized cost”. This 
allowance is based on the general impairment approach, which consists in assessing whether credit risk has significantly increased since initial recognition 
to determine if 12-month expected credit losses or lifetime expected credit losses should be recognized. The financial assets of Desjardins Capital are not 
credit-impaired financial assets and are considered as not having had a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. Consequently, a loss 
allowance amounting to 12-month expected credit losses is recognized. 
 
The loss allowance for expected credit losses reflects an unbiased amount, based on a probability-weighted present value of cash flow shortfalls, and 
takes into account reasonable and supportable information about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions. Generally, 
the loss allowance for expected credit losses represents the present value of the difference between cash flows that are due under the terms and 
conditions of the contract and total cash flows that Desjardins Capital expects to receive. As at December 31, 2019 and 2018, the loss allowance for 
expected credit losses on the financial assets of Desjardins Capital amounted to nil. 
 

d) Revenue recognition  
 
In addition to the items mentioned in section a), “Financial assets and liabilities”, the specific recognition criteria that follow must also be met before 
revenue can be recognized.  
 
Net interest income 
 
Interest income and expense are recognized using the effective interest method for all financial instruments measured at “Amortized cost”.  
 
The effective interest method is used in the calculation of the amortized cost of a financial asset or liability and in the allocation of interest income or 
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of 
the financial instrument to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset or to the amortized cost of a financial liability. 
 
As all the financial assets of Desjardins Capital are not considered credit-impaired, interest income is calculated on the gross carrying amount of the 
financial asset. 
 

e) Income taxes 
 
The income tax expense recognized in the Statements of Comprehensive Income comprises the current and deferred tax expense.  
 
The total income tax expense is based on the expected tax treatment of the transactions. To determine the current and deferred portions of income taxes, 
management must make judgments to establish the assumptions concerning the dates on which deferred income tax assets and liabilities will be 
reversed. Significant judgment must be used to interpret the relevant tax legislation in order to determine the income tax expense. If Desjardins Capital’s 
interpretation differs from that of the taxation authorities or if the reversal dates do not correspond with the forecasted dates, the provision for income taxes 
may increase or decrease in subsequent years. 
 
Current income taxes 
 
Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current year and prior years are measured based on the amount that Desjardins Capital expects to recover 
from or pay to the taxation authorities. Tax laws and tax rates applied to determine these amounts are those that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted at the reporting date.  
 
Deferred income taxes 
 
Deferred taxes are recognized, using the balance sheet liability method, for all temporary differences existing at the reporting date between the tax basis 
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amount in the Balance Sheets. 
 
Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences as 
well as all tax loss carryforwards and unused tax credits, to the extent that it is probable that a taxable profit will be available against which these 
deductible temporary differences, tax loss carryforwards and unused tax credits can be utilized.  
 
The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable 
profit will be available to allow the benefit of part or all of a deferred tax asset to be utilized. Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed at each 
reporting date and are recognized to the extent that it becomes probable that a future taxable profit will be available to recover them. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply during the period when the asset is realized or the liability is 
settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities, and if these 
deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority. 
 

FUTURE ACCOUNTING CHANGES 
 
As at December 31, 2019, there were no accounting standards issued by the IASB that were not yet effective as at such date that would have an impact 
on Desjardins Capital. 
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 Series G Series J 

Carrying amount $900.0 million $500.0 million 

Acquisition date May 5, 2010 December 15, 2011 

Maturity date May 5, 2020 December 15, 2026 

 
Fixed annual interest rate 

 
5.387% 
May 5, 2010 to May 4, 2020 

 
5.154% 
December 15, 2011  
to December 14, 2021 

 
Fixed interest payments 

 
Biannual until May 5, 2020 

 
Biannual until December 15, 2021 

 
Variable annual interest rate 

 
N/A 

 
90-day bankers’ acceptance rate plus 
2.867%  
December 15, 2021  
to December 14, 2026 

 
Variable interest payments 

 
N/A 

 
Quarterly,  
March 15, 2022  
to December 15, 2026 
 

 
Total or partial early redemption at the option of Desjardins Capital 
to finance the early redemption of the corresponding senior notes 
 

 
Early redemption subject to prior 
approval from the AMF 

 
No early redemption before 
December 15, 2021  
 
On or after December 15, 2021, early 
redemption subject to prior approval 
from the AMF 

Interest receivable $7.5 million $1.2 million 

 
 
 

NOTE 4 – BANK LOAN  

 
Just as it did one year earlier, Desjardins Capital had a subordinated operating line of credit with an authorized limit of $5 million as at December 31, 2019. 
The credit is repayable on demand and bears interest at the Federation’s cost of funds, plus a rate equal to that of a two-year loan plus 0.75%. The 
Federation, an entity included in the group scope of Desjardins Group, is mandated to meet the funding requirements of the Desjardins Group entities. As 
at December 31, 2019 and 2018, no amount was drawn on this line of credit. 
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 Series G Series J 

Nominal value $900.0 million $500.0 million 

Issuing date May 5, 2010 December 15, 2011 

Maturity date May 5, 2020 December 15, 2026 

 
Fixed annual interest rate 
 

 
5.187% 
May 5, 2010 to May 4, 2020 

 
4.954% 
December 15, 2011  
to December 14, 2021 

 
Fixed interest payments 

 
Biannual until  
May 5, 2020 

 
Biannual until December 15, 2021 

 
Variable annual interest rate 

 
N/A 

 
90-day bankers’ acceptance rate 
plus 2.670% 
December 15, 2021  
to December 14, 2026 

 
Variable interest payments 

 
N/A 

 
Quarterly,  
March 15, 2022  
to December 15, 2026 

 
Early redemption 

 
Early redemption in whole or in part 
subject to prior approval from the 
AMF 
 

 
Not early redemption before  
December 15, 2021  
 
On or after December 15, 2021, 
early redemption in whole or in part 
subject to prior approval from the 
AMF 

Interest payable $7.3 million $1.1 million 

 
These senior notes are secured by a first hypothec on the corresponding subordinated notes of each of the above-mentioned series. 
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AUTHORIZED 
 
Unlimited number of shares, without par value:  
 

 Common shares, voting and participating; 
 

 Class A preferred shares, non-voting and non-participating, with no dividend rights, redeemable at the paid-up capital amount; 
 

 Class B preferred shares, non-voting and non-participating, with no dividend rights, redeemable at the paid-up capital amount. 
 

ISSUED AND PAID SHARES   

 As at December 31, 2019 As at December 31, 2018 

 
Number 

 of shares  Amount 
Number 

 of shares  Amount 

Common shares 10,000 $ 10 10,000 $ 10 

Class A preferred shares 1,000,000  1,000 1,000,000 1,000 

  $ 1,010  $ 1,010 

 
During fiscal 2019 and 2018, Desjardins Capital paid a dividend of $40,400 on its common shares, or $4.04 per common share. 
 
 
 

NOTE 7 – FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

 
The fair value measurement of financial instruments is determined using the following three-level fair value hierarchy: 
 

 Level 1 – Measurement based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 
 

 Level 2 – Valuation techniques based primarily on observable market data; 
 

 Level 3 – Valuation techniques not based primarily on observable market data.  
 
The following tables present, by hierarchy level, financial instruments whose carrying amount does not equal fair value.  
  
 Carrying Fair        
As at December 31, 2019 amount value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

Financial assets           

Subordinated notes $ 1,400,000 $ 1,433,894 $ - $ 1,433,894 $ - 

Financial liabilities      

Senior notes 1,399,165 1,434,006 - 1,434,006 - 

        
 Carrying Fair        
As at December 31, 2018 amount value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

Financial assets           

Subordinated notes $ 1,400,000 $ 1,454,246 $ - $ 1,454,246 $ - 

Financial liabilities         

Senior notes 1,398,314 1,454,390  -  1,454,390  - 
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INCOME TAX EXPENSE FOR THE YEAR 
 
The income tax expense recognized in the Statements of Comprehensive Income for the years ended December 31 is detailed as follows:  

  

   2019 2018 
Current income taxes      
 Current income tax expense $ 651  $ 586  
Deferred income taxes   
 Origination and reversal of temporary differences (226)  (216)  

Total income tax expense $ 425  $ 370 

         
The income tax expense recognized in the Statements of Comprehensive Income for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 does not differ from 
the income tax expense that would be determined using the Canadian statutory rate of 26.6% (26.7% in 2018). 
 
DEFERRED INCOME TAXES 
 
The deferred income tax sources are as follows: 
  
   Balance Sheets Statements of Comprehensive Income 

   As at December 31, 2019 As at December 31, 2018 2019 2018 
Deferred tax liabilities          
 Senior notes $ 221  $ 448  $ (226)  $ (216)  

Net deferred income tax liabilities (1) $ 221  $ 448 $ (226)  $ (216)
(1) Deferred income taxes will be reversed mainly in the long term.        

 
 
 

NOTE 9 – FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT RISK MANAGEMENT 

 
Desjardins Capital is exposed to different types of financial instrument risks in the normal course of operations, such as credit risk, market risk and liquidity 
risk. The manner in which Desjardins Capital assesses these risks as well as the objectives, policies and methods it uses to manage them are presented 
in the Section 4.1, “Risk Management”, of the Management’s Discussion and Analysis. The shaded areas and tables marked with an asterisk (*) presented 
in these pages are an integral part of these Financial Statements. 
 
CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS 
 
Contractual obligations are commitments with respect to minimum future payments and impact Desjardins Capital’s liquidity needs. Such contractual 
obligations are recognized in the Balance Sheets or are off-balance sheet. 
 
The following tables present financial liabilities by remaining contractual term to maturity. The amounts presented include principal and interest, if any. 
  
  Less than 1 to Over    
As at December 31, 2019 1 year 5 years 5 years Total 

Financial liabilities       

 Senior notes $ 899,807 $ - $ 499,358 $ 1,399,165  

 Interest payable 8,363 - - 8,363  

 Other accrued liabilities 81 - - 81  

 

  Less than 1 to Over   
As at December 31, 2018 1 year 5 years 5 years Total 

Financial liabilities  

 Senior notes $ 79,816 $ 1,004,692 $ 558,077 $ 1,642,585  

 Interest payable 8,363 - - 8,363  

 Other accrued liabilities 27 - - 27 
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The goal of capital management at Desjardins Capital is to ensure that a sufficient level of high-quality capital is maintained to ensure the continuity of its 
operations, to pay regular dividends to its shareholder, and to maintain favourable credit ratings and the confidence of financial markets. 
 
As a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Federation, Desjardins Capital is not itself bound by regulatory requirements regarding its capital, such requirements 
applying first to the Federation and then to Desjardins Group as a whole. Desjardins Capital’s assets are consolidated for the purposes of evaluating the 
composition and adequacy of capital for both the Federation and Desjardins Group, which is conducted according to the guideline on adequacy of capital 
base standards applicable to financial services cooperatives issued by the AMF. 
  
 

NOTE 11 – RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 

 
Desjardins Capital’s related parties mainly include its parent company, the Federation, other entities included in the group scope of Desjardins Group and 
entities for which the substance of the relationship indicates that they are related to Desjardins Capital. They also include Desjardins Capital’s key 
management personnel and close members of their family, as well as entities over which these persons exercise, directly or indirectly, control, joint control 
or significant influence. 
 
TRANSACTIONS WITH DESJARDINS CAPITAL’S RELATED PARTIES 
 
Transactions with Desjardins Capital’s related parties were entered into under normal market terms and conditions and were initially recognized at fair 
value. 
 
The main transactions are associated with interest income on the subordinated notes issued by Desjardins caisses of Québec and interest expense on 
borrowings. They are also associated with professional fees. The main assets with related parties include the subordinated notes issued by Desjardins 
caisses of Québec and interest receivable, while the main liabilities include the senior notes and other accrued liabilities. 
 
These transactions and balances as at the reporting dates are as follows: 
  
              
    2019 2018 
      Other     Other   
     Desjardins related       Desjardins related   
    Federation caisses parties  Total Federation caisses parties Total  
Statements of Comprehensive           
 Income           
Interest income on           
 subordinated notes issued by           
 Desjardins caisses of Québec $ - $ 74,253 $ - $ 74,253  $ - $ 74,253 $ - $ 74,253  
Interest income on cash           
 and deposits with           
 financial institutions 347 - - 347  261 - - 261  
Interest expense on senior           
 notes - - 512 512  - - 1,967 1,967  
Professional fees 618 - - 618  790 - - 790  

Balance Sheets           
Cash and deposits with   
 financial institutions $ 19,843 $ - $ - $ 19,843  $ 18,006 $ - $ - $ 18,006  
Interest receivable 40 8,687 - 8,727  25 8,687 - 8,712  
Subordinated notes           
 issued by Desjardins           
 caisses of Québec, at cost - 1,400,000 - 1,400,000  - 1,400,000 - 1,400,000  
Interest payable - - 6 6  - - 172 172  
Senior notes - - 776 776  - - 21,268 21,268  

Other           
Credit commitments received $ 5,000 $ - $ - $ 5,000  $ 5,000 $ - $ - $ 5,000  

              
KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL COMPENSATION 
 
Desjardins Capital’s key management personnel comprises the members of its Board of Directors and its Management Committee. These individuals have 
the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of Desjardins Capital. In the normal course of operations, Desjardins 
Capital does not carry out financial transactions with its management personnel. Management personnel’s compensation is paid by the Federation. 
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